Interpretation guide

Learn how to interpret the MetaXplore range of gut microbiome and gastrointestinal health tests to support clinical decision-making.



MetaXplore" GIPUS

Thank you for supporting Co-Biome[™] testing services – for clinicians, by clinicians.

We are an Australian lab and team collaborating with clinicians, like you, to improve human health through precision microbiome testing.

We believe that the future of good health lies within us. By accurately unlocking the complexity of the whole gut microbiome, together we can better understand and manage patient health.

We look forward to continuing to partner with you as together, we can unlock health from within.



Contents

MetaXplore range	1
Getting started with Co-Biome	
The Co-Biome difference	3
The technology	4
Evidence-based patient-focused holistic care	5
Interpreting your test results	
Health categories	7
Insights	9
Gastrointestinal health markers	10
Microbial markers	11
Diversity	13
Species table	14
Emerging markers	19
Bacterial pathogens	21
Protozoan parasites	23
Microbial marker interpretation	24
Gastrointestinal health marker interpretation	40

MetaXplore Range

MetaXplore

MetaXplore[™] provides a metagenomic driven functional gut microbiome profile, together with the latest research insights for healthcare professionals. MetaXploreTM Functional Gut Microbiome Profile COBIOME

MetaXplore GI

MetaXplore[™] GI provides the same comprehensive functional gut microbiome profile as MetaXplore[™] as well as reporting on gastrointestinal health markers and science backed clinical insights to assist clinical decision-making and intervention. MetaXplore[™] GI Functional Gut Microbiome Profile Gastrointestinal Health Markers

MetaXplore GI Plus

Co-Biome's most comprehensive functional gut microbiome profile. It provides all the features found in MetaXplore[™] and MetaXplore[™] GI, plus targeted pathogen panels for the detection of pathogenic bacteria and protist parasites.

MetaXplore[™] GI Plus

Functional Gut Microbiome Profile Gastrointestinal Health Markers Targeted Pathogen & Parasite Panels

STOOL SAMPLE KIT

Me	etaXplore range table	MetaXplore	MetaXplore GI	MetaXplore GI Plus
Rep	ort inclusions			
Cor	nprehensive report with easy-to-interpret findings	~	✓	~
Pers scie lifes poly	sonalised clinical ¹ and research ² insights providing ntifically graded statements on the evidence for diet and tyle interventions as well as probiotic, prebiotic, nutrient and phenol supplementation	✓ ²	↓ 1,2	✔1,2
Wh	ole microbiome community insights			
Met bac	agenomic identification of >28,000 microbial species* including teria, archaea and eukaryotes (fungi and protist parasites)^2	~	~	~
Mic abu	robiome diversity, microbial richness count and relative ndance of the microbial community ²	~	~	~
Gut Inte infla	microbiome impact on health categories stinal inflammation, intestinal barrier, detox/retox, systemic ammation, intestinal motility and digestive secretions ²	~	~	~
Pro Buty acy hyd toxi	duction of microbial markers yrate, acetate, propionate, 3-indolepropionic acid (IPA), hexa- lated lipopolysaccharide (hexa-LPS), trimethylamine (TMA), rogen sulphide, branched-chain amino acids (BCAA), <i>B.fragilis</i> n, methane, beta-glucuronidase ²	~	~	~
Mic Muc	robial consumption of cin, oxalate ²	~	~	~
Em Hist pro	e rging markers amine, ammonia (urease), gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) duction, GABA consumption, vitamin K, lactate, human DNA ²	~	~	~
Wh	ole microbiome community profiling & comprehensive pathog	gen detection		
3acteria	Presence and relative abundance of bacterial species within the following genera Agathobacter, Akkermansia, Bifidobacterium, Bilophila, Citrobacter, Desulfovibrio, Eggerthella, Enterobacter, Escherichia, Faecalibacterium, Klebsiella, Lactobacillus, Oxalobacter, Porphyromonas, Prevotella, Roseburia, Ruminococcus, Streptococcus and more ²	~	~	~
	Diagnostic identification of pathogenic bacteria <i>E.coli</i> pathotypes, <i>C. difficile</i> pathotypes, <i>Campylobacter</i> spp., <i>Yersinia enterocolitica</i> , <i>Vibrio</i> spp., <i>Aeromonas</i> spp., <i>Salmonella</i> spp. ¹	×	×	~
tes	Whole microbiome profiling of parasites Parasite detection of <i>Blastocystis</i> subtypes 1-9 and other protist parasites ²	~	~	~
Parasi	Diagnostic identification of protist parasites Giardia lamblia, Entamoeba histolytica, Cryptosporidium spp., Cyclospora cayetanensis, Dientamoeba fragilis (unconfirmed pathogen) ¹	×	×	~
Fungi	Whole microbiome profiling of fungi species Candida genus, Saccharomyces genus and more ²	~	~	~
Gas	trointestinal health markers			
Dia Cal sec	gnostic gastrointestinal health markers protectin, faecal occult blood, lactoferrin, pancreatic elastase, retory IgA, zonulin ¹	×	~	~
Inve Fae	estigative gastrointestinal health marker cal pH ²	×	~	~

* Can report on over 28,000 microbial species although a typical healthy sample will contain between 110 – 244 species.
 ^ Shotgun metagenomics can report on all species with a relative abundance above 0.01% including non-diagnostic eukaryotes (fungi and protist parasites).
 1. The faecal occult blood, Targeted Pathogen Panel and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) used in the MetaXplore™ range are diagnostic and are approved

2. The faces pH assay used in the MetaXplore™ range is for research use only and not to be used as a basis for diagnosis. The metagenomic assays used in the MetaXplore™ range are to determine the microbiome populations and associated functional pathways in a faecal sample. The application is for research use only and not to be used as a basis for diagnosis. Learn more about the journey we are on to validate this gold-standard technology for clinical diagnosis and application at co-biome.com.

The Co-Biome difference

Comprehensive testing options

Co-Biome is the first Australian brand to offer whole gut microbiome analysis alongside the testing of diagnostic gastrointestinal health markers and targeted pathogen panels.



Clinician-focused, backed by science

Co-Biome was created by clinicians for clinicians. We understand that clinicians think in a unique way, prioritising patient outcomes.

Our team is made up of leading naturopaths, nutritionists, herbalists, dietitians, scientists, and researchers with many holding a PhD in their respective field. When reviewing the research for Co-Biome[™], our team considered how you, the clinician, will use this information and how it may impact patient outcomes.

Local Australian lab backed by world-class technology

The Co-biome team use world-class microbiome technologies at Microba's NATA ISO15189 accredited laboratory, located at the Translational Research Institute in Brisbane, Australia. Our laboratory uses the latest metagenomics testing equipment and follows comprehensive quality assurance protocols to deliver accurate and reproducible reports healthcare practitioners can trust.

Results compared to exceptionally healthy Australians

In defining a healthy microbiome, Microba[™] has taken a rigorous and ambitious approach. This allows comparison of your patient's microbiome results to a gold standard of exceptionally healthy individuals. Through the analysis of almost 12,000 samples and in-depth participant health and lifestyle questionnaires, Microba has identified 484 exceptionally healthy Australians which are used to put your patient's results in context.

The MetaXplore range offers health professionals the most comprehensive gut health testing options available. Through combining whole-microbiome analysis of the microbial community, together with additional gastrointestinal testing options, MetaXplore unlocks the complexity of a patient's whole microbiome and offers unprecedented insight into gut health.

The technology

Whole genome metagenomics

Co-Biome's gut microbiome analysis is powered by Microba's proprietary analysis platform. This powerful platform uses whole-genome metagenomics to provide you with a high-resolution picture of the gut microbiome.

Metagenomics (also known as shotgun metagenomics) is the most comprehensive DNA sequencing method that:

- captures all microbes in a sample which allows you to see not just bacteria, but also fungi, parasites, and archaea
- identifies all microbes at the species level providing a precise understanding of which microbes are present in your patient's microbiome
- measures microbes with the capacity to consume or create compounds resulting in a complete picture of microbiome function.

Gastrointestinal health markers

Calprotectin, lactoferrin, secretory IgA, pancreatic elastase and zonulin are assessed using ELISA assay kits from the ImmunoDiagnostik product range. Faecal occult blood is detected using the ulti med FOB Test. The test uses a double antibody sandwich assay to selectively detect faecal occult blood at 40 ng/ ml or higher, or 4.8 μ g/g faeces. Unlike guaiac assays, the accuracy of the test is not affected by the patient's diet. The pH values of faecal samples are measured using a pH strip with confirmatory and increased resolution of measurement using electronic pH meter for accuracy and precision.

Diagnostic targeted pathogen panels

The Co-Biome MetaXplore GI Plus test uses targeted pathogen panels for pathogenic bacteria and parasite detection. The targeted pathogen panels use a highly sensitive method for the detection of specific regions of DNA which typically indicate the presence of the pathogen, species or genus reported. It will detect the listed microbes even if present at very low levels but will not provide any other information about the microbiome.

Whole genome metagenomics provides a complete picture of the whole microbiome, while the targeted pathogen panels use a highly sensitive method for the detection of the presence of the listed pathogen, species or genus.

Evidence-based patientfocused holistic care

Our mission is to collaborate with clinicians to improve patient health. MetaXplore offers the latest technology and science to support clinicians in practising evidencebased care.



Accurate and reliable results

MetaXplore provides accurate assessment of the patient's microbiome, gut function and environment. The following terms are used when describing the test results as well as the mechanisms linking them to health:

Microbial markers:

The microbial markers assess the number of microbial cells within the microbiome that have the functional potential to either produce microbial metabolites or consume compounds. In addition, microbial diversity is considered a microbial marker as well as being included in the microbiome health section.

Gastrointestinal health markers:

The gastrointestinal health markers include six diagnostic markers plus faecal pH which provide an assessment of gut function and environment (MetaXplore GI and MetaXplore GI Plus tests only).

Health categories:

The health categories represent different aspects of gut function and health, as well as mechanisms by which the microbiome influences systemic health. Each health category groups associated microbial markers and gastrointestinal health markers to support mechanism driven assessment of gut and systemic health.

Comprehensive science review

Research into the microbiome is a rapidly evolving and expanding field of science which would be impossible for any clinician to keep up with. We have tackled this challenge by creating a dream team of clinicians and scientists who undertook an extensive review of the body of scientific evidence. We identified clinically-relevant research to help clinicians put patient's results in context and determine evidence-based intervention options.

This results in the following three types of research statements:

Graded statements:

Summarise the evidence for how microbial markers and gastrointestinal markers are associated with the health categories.

Research insights:

Scientifically graded statements on the evidence for methods to modify markers. They are shown in the report if a microbial marker is different from the healthy cohort, or if faecal pH is outside of the literature derived reference range.

Clinical insights:

Scientifically graded practice recommendations. They are shown in the report if a diagnostic gastrointestinal health marker is outside of the reference range.

Applying results in clinical practice

Co-biome understands that MetaXplore only provides part of the clinical picture and working in collaboration with healthcare professionals is essential to ensure the results are placed within the clinical context for holistic patient care.

Accurate measurement	Mechanisms explained	Personalised insights
Microbiome	Health categories are	Research insights review
Richness and diversity	mechanisms associated with	research for interventions
Microbial species	gut and systemic health.	for research use only
Microbial markers		markers.
	Graded statements	
Gut function and	summarise research for how	Clinical insights provide
environment	markers are associated with	treatment recommendations
Gastrointestinal health markers	health categories.	for diagnostic markers.
Clinical assessment	Patient	Medical history
Clinical presentation	Goals	Medical conditions
Signs and symptoms	Values	Family history
Bowel habits	Motivation	Mental health
Current diet and lifestyle	Preferences	Sensitivities or allergies

Evidence-based patient-centred holistic treatment plan

Health categories

There are five health categories which represent different aspects of gut function and health, as well as mechanisms by which the microbiome influences systemic health. The health categories include: intestinal motility, intestinal inflammation, intestinal barrier, systemic inflammation and detox/retox. A sixth health category, digestive secretions, is included in the MetaXplore GI range.



Graded statement summarise the evidence for the link between health categories and markers. Graded statements on the clinical interpretation of markers can be found from <u>page 24</u>.



Intestinal motility

Intestinal motility is defined as the movement of contents through the gastrointestinal tract. The microbial markers can be used to assess the relationship between the microbiome and gut transit time. The gastrointestinal health marker (pH) can be utilised to evaluate gut transit time.

Intestinal inflammation



Intestinal inflammation refers to immune activation occurring within the gastrointestinal system. The microbial markers can be utilised to assess the potential for the microbiome to prevent or exacerbate intestinal inflammation. The gastrointestinal health markers provide a measure of the level of active intestinal inflammation.



Intestinal barrier

The intestinal barrier separates the contents of the intestinal lumen from the rest of the body. The microbial markers can be used to assess the potential for the microbiome to protect or impair intestinal barrier integrity. The gastrointestinal health markers provide a measure of intestinal barrier integrity within the small intestine.



Systemic inflammation

Systemic inflammation can be detected via elevated markers of immune activation within the blood. The microbial markers can be utilised to assess the potential for the microbiome to prevent or exacerbate systemic inflammation.



Detox/retox

Detox represents the role of the microbiome in detoxification and elimination of compounds from the body. The microbial markers can be used to assess the potential for the microbiome to influence oxalate, drug and hormone excretion.



Digestive secretions

Digestive secretions reflect the role of exocrine functions in determining environmental conditions within the gastrointestinal tract.

Insights

The Microba science review process involved an extensive review of the body of scientific evidence to provide accessible research statements to help clinicians identify evidence-based intervention options for their patient.

•	
RESEARCH INSIGHT	
Resistant starch typ increase butyrate p	be 2 supplementation may roducing microbes.
HUMAN (EBM) C	SHOW REFERENCES

Personalised to your patient's results

Clinical insights are scientifically graded practice recommendations which are shown in the report if a diagnostic gastrointestinal health marker is outside of the reference range.

Research insights are scientifically graded statements which are shown in the report if a microbial marker is different from the healthy cohort, or if faecal pH is outside of the literature derived reference range.



Filters to help clinicians explore all insights

You can explore all of your patient's personalised insights by visiting the Insights page in the MetaXplore report. Insights can be filtered by marker, recommendation type, evidence type (human, in vitro) and evidence grade.

Diverse intervention options

Insights include diet and lifestyle interventions as well as probiotic, prebiotic, nutrient and polyphenol supplementation.

Evidence grade to rate quality and consistency of research

The grades provide clinicians with a simple method to understand the research and how much they can apply the results in clinical practice. The evidence grading below is based on the NHMRC guidelines.

Grades / Codes	Description
A	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice
В	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice in most situations
с	Body of evidence provides some support for recommendation, but care should be taken in its application
D	Body of evidence is weak, and recommendation must be applied with caution
РР, Н	Body of evidence is observational only and must be applied with caution
PP, IV	Body of evidence is in vitro and must be applied with a high degree of caution

Gastrointestinal health markers

The gastrointestinal health markers are included in the MetaXplore GI and MetaXplore GI Plus tests only.

The gastrointestinal health markers include six diagnostic markers which provide an assessment of intestinal inflammation, intestinal barrier and digestive secretions. In addition, faecal pH is provided as an investigative gastrointestinal marker.

Graded statements on clinical interpretation of gastrointestinal health markers can be found from page 40.

Microbial markers

The microbial markers are included in all tests within the MetaXplore range. The microbial markers include the microbial consumption of two compounds and the production of 11 microbial metabolites. In addition, microbial richness and diversity are considered microbial markers as well as being included in the microbiome health section.

Understanding microbial markers

Metagenomics measures the relative abundance of microbial cells with the genetic capacity to produce or consume metabolites.



It is important to remember that the information provided by metagenomics is the genetic potential of the microbiome to produce metabolites, but which metabolites are actually made depends on the provision of fuel sources from the diet and environmental conditions in the gut. For example, you may have lots of genes for making butyrate but unless those cells are exposed to fibre, they will not actually be able to make the butyrate.



- the number of microbial genes
- availability of fuel sources
- environmental conditions in the gut

Graded statements on the clinical interpretation of microbial markers can be found from page 24.

Comparing microbial markers to the healthy cohort

The relative abundance of microbial markers is compared to the healthy cohort.

A green, orange and red coloured reference bar is used to aid interpretation of a result compared to the healthy cohort. Green indicates a beneficial level and red indicates an undesirable level.



Research insights are displayed when a microbial marker is identified to be different to the healthy cohort (yellow or red result).



Diversity

Diversity is a broad assessment of the number and spread of species within a sample. The MetaXplore reports on both richness and diversity.

Microbial richness measures the number of species in a sample. A typical healthy sample will contain between 110 – 244 species.

Microbial diversity is a measure that accounts for the number of different species (richness) and their relative abundance (evenness). This is assessed using the Shannon Index, a measure widely used by the scientific community. Low microbial diversity could reflect low numbers of species (low richness) or that certain species dominate the microbiome (low evenness).

Interpreting diversity results

Considering both richness and diversity results together reveals whether a microbiome has a low number of species (low richness) or whether any species dominate the microbiome (low evenness).

Richness	Diversity	Interpretation	
		Patient has a high number of species, and no species dominate the microbiome.	s - He
		Patient has high number of species but some species dominate the microbiome. Review the species table to identify the most abundant species in your patient's microbiome.	n n n her
		Patient has a low number of species but no species dominate the microbiome.	
		Patient has low number of species and there may be species which dominate the microbiome. Review the species table to identify the most abundant species in your patient's microbiome.	

Species table

Each person's microbiome is made up of different combinations of microbial species. The species table lists all species detected in the sample at a relative abundance of over 0.01%.

The species table provides information on:

- the species name
- how prevalent that species is in the healthy cohort
- the relative abundance of that species in your patient's microbiome
- the distance from average which compares the relative abundance of that species to the healthy cohort

Identifying parasites, fungi and archaea

Species are the basic unit of taxonomy that identifies organisms which are genetically similar

Filters in the species table can be used to identify if archeae, fungi or protist/parasites were identified in your patient's microbiome.



Archaea

Archaea are a domain of life consisting of single celled organisms that are distinct from bacteria. In humans, archaea are detected in approximately one-third of gut microbiome samples.

Protist/parasites

Protists are a diverse group of organisms within the eukaryotic Domain of life. Some protists are parasitic and can cause infections. Metagenomics can provide high-resolution identification of some protists, such as *Blastocystis* subtypes.

Fungi

Fungi are a kingdom of organisms which includes single-celled yeasts. Fungi are a component of the gut microbiome, although the proportion (when compared to all other organisms in the gut microbiome) is typically less than 0.01% (Evidence Grade: D). As a result of the low overall proportion of fungi in the gut microbiome, they are only detected in approximately 2% of samples.

Species Tab	ole					Download CSV
The species table lists all spe found within the healthy col	ecies within this sample abov hort. The abundance reflects	e 0.01% relative abundance. P the percentage of total micro	revalence categorizes how obial cells identified as the lis	ommonly the listed species is ted species.	S	
Bacterial Species	Archaea	Fungi	Protist/Parasite	Oral Species		
A Domain of life consisting of single celled organisms that make up the majority of the microbes within the gut microbiome.	A Domain of life consisting of single celled organisms that are distinct from bacteria.	A Kingdom of organisms which includes single-celled yeasts.	A diverse group of organisms within the eukaryotic Domain of life. Some protists are parasitic and can cause infections.	Species identified in samples from human mouth, nose, or throat.		
Q Search species	274	found				
Phylum \$	Species 🌲		Abundance 🖨	Prevalence 🚽	Distance from Average 🌲	
Euryarchaeota	Methanob	revibacter_A smithii	0.14%	Common	-1.1	More Info 🗸

Understanding species names

The species list will contain Latin scientific species names as well as species identified by alphanumeric and MIC numbers. The type of name which a species has does not reflect the importance of that species in your patient's microbiome.

Latin name:	Cultured species are given Latin scientific names which consist of the genus followed by species name.	Escherichia V genus	coli y species		
Alpha-numeric identifier:	Uncultured microbes are identified via an alphanumeric identifier e.g. CAG-302 sp001916775.				
MIC number:	Microba uses its world leading database to mine new genomes which are identified using a MIC number. These MIC species names are only found in Microba supported products.				

Understanding prevalence

Prevalence provides information on how commonly a particular species is found in the healthy cohort.

There are no species which all microbiomes must contain however, more common species are more likely to have appeared in scientific studies and are therefore generally more well understood by the scientific community.

	Prevalence in healthy cohort	Number of samples in healthy cohort with species detected
Very common	≥ 90%	≥ 435
Common	30% - 90%	145 - 435
Less common	5 – 30%	24 - 145
Rare	< 5%	< 24

Understanding relative abundance

The relative abundance of each species reports the proportion of each species within the total microbial cells. For example, if the most common species in your patient's microbiome has a relative abundance of 20% this means that one in five microbial cells are classified as this species.



Understanding the distance from average

The distance from average in the species table can be used to compare the relative abundance of each species within your patient's microbiome to the healthy cohort. The distance from average provides information on whether the species in your patient's microbiome accounts for a higher or lower proportion of the microbiome than is seen in healthy microbiomes that contain that species. To ensure clinically relevant comparison, each species is compared only to members of the healthy cohort who are colonised with that species.

Interpreting the distance from average

A score equal to or near 0 means the abundance of that species is similar to the healthy cohort.

	Firmicutes A	Blautia_A wexlerae	1.40%	Very Common	-0.39
ŧ	Firmicutes A	Coprococcus_B comes	0.30%	Very Common	-0.08
•	Bacteroidota	Parabacteroides distasonis	0.31%	Very Common	0.43

A negative score means that species is under-abundant compared to the healthy cohort. The lower the number the more reduced the relative abundance of that species compared to the healthy cohort.

ŧ	Firmicutes A	Faecalibacterium prausnitzii_K	0.09%	Common	-1.81
Ŧ	Actinobacteriota	Bifidobacterium animalis	0.01%	Less Common	-1.79

A positive score means that species is over-abundant compared to the healthy cohort. The higher the number the more increased the relative abundance of that species compared to the healthy cohort.

Proteobacteria	Haemophilus_D parainfluenza	0.16%	Less Common	2.69
Proteobacteria	Escherichia coli	1.90%	Less Common	2.56

No distance from average is provided for rare species

As rare species are found in less than 5% of the healthy cohort insufficient data is available to provide a reliable score.

Prevalence 🗘	Distance From Average ≎
Rare	

Clinical interpretation

The distance from average can be used to identify health-associated species which are under-abundant in your patient's microbiome. Providing a fuel source in the form of prebiotic fibre may feed these species.

Understanding the role of a species in your patient's microbiome

Species descriptions

More Info $\, \smallsetminus \,$

The species descriptions provide information to help inform the clinical assessment of the role of that species in your patient's microbiome.

Species which have been associated with health outcomes in the scientific literature contain a summary of this research in their description. Metagenomics can measure the functional capacity of all species providing information on the potential role of every species within your patient's microbiome

For all species, the predicted functional capacity to produce microbial metabolites and consume compounds is provided. This information can be used to assess the role of each microbe, including newly discovered species within your patient's microbiome. This information can be used to guide your understanding on the microbe's contribution to overall microbiome function, as well as provide insight into the fuel sources it utilises to thrive.

Symbols

Symbols are provided to highlight species which have been associated with health or disease in the scientific literature. This is often based on cross-sectional studies which show that a species is increased or decreased in a particular disease which does not imply causation.

Symbol	Description
+	The plus symbol indicates health-associated species that have been shown to be reduced in the microbiomes of people with a certain disease compared to healthy controls.
•	The minus symbol indicates disease-associated species that have been shown to be increased in the microbiomes of people with a certain disease compared to healthy controls.
Ŧ	The plus/minus symbol indicates species that have been shown to be increased in the microbiomes of people with some diseases while reduced in the microbiomes of people with other diseases compared to healthy controls.

Search

The species table has a search function which will search the species name and description.

Q Search species

Search terms	Clinical use
Species name	Use the search function to identify the presence of a species of clinical interest. No genera or species must be present to ensure microbiome health.
Disease	Use the search function to identify species found to be associated, in the scientific literature, with a disease of clinical interest. This will select any species which have associations with that disease listed in the species description.
Microbial marker	The search function can be used to search the species description for a microbial marker of clinical interest. This will highlight any species which are contributing to the microbial marker result. For example, by searching 'butyrate' you will identify all the species capable of producing butyrate in your patient's microbiome.

Sort

The species table can be sorted by each column. The most common columns used to sort the species table are the 'abundance' and 'distance from average' columns. Sorting by 'abundance' will identify the species which are most abundant (take up the largest proportion of the microbiome) while sorting by the 'distance from average' will identify the species which are most over-abundant (positive score) or under-abundant (negative score) compared to the healthy cohort.

\$	Phylum 韋	Species 韋	Abundance 韋	Prevalence 韋	Distance from 🖨 average
Sorting by the 'symbol' column will bring species which have been associated with health and disease in the scientific literature to the top of the species table.	Sorting by the 'phylum' column will group the species by phylum.	Sorting by the 'species' column will sort the species names alphabetically.	Sorting by the 'abundance' column will bring the most abundant species (largest proportion of the microbiome) to the top of the species table.	Sorting by the 'prevalence' column will group the species by prevalence in the healthy cohort.	Sorting by the 'distance from average' column will identify the most over- abundant (positive score) or under- abundant (negative score) species compared to the healthy cohort.

Emerging markers

These are markers which have historically been of clinical interest. These markers have an emerging evidence base leading to uncertainty around their role in human health.

Most of the DNA in stool (>99%) is from microbes and only a small amount should be human. Sources of human DNA in stool can include mucus, shedding of epithelial cells, blood, or sample contamination from other body areas.

Human DNA

Co-Biome Evidence Statement:

High human DNA levels in the stool may be associated with several intestinal diseases including active ulcerative colitis, colorectal cancer, and *C. difficile* infection (Evidence Grade: D).

Ammonia (urease) producing microbes

The microbial enzyme urease breaks down the compound urea, (a nitrogen waste product created by the body), into ammonia. The role of gut bacteria that produce the enzyme urease is currently not well understood.

GABA producing microbes

GABA (gamma-aminobutyric acid) plays an important role in regulating mental state by calming the nervous system. Low levels of GABA have been associated with poor mental health. Most GABA is produced in the brain however, your gut microbiome may contribute to your GABA levels as some bacteria can also produce and/or consume GABA. The role of gut bacteria that produce GABA in mental health is currently not well understood. If you are concerned about your mental health, it is important to seek professional help.

GABA consuming microbes

GABA (gamma-aminobutyric acid) plays an important role in regulating mental state by calming the nervous system. Low levels of GABA have been associated with poor mental health. Most GABA is produced in the brain however, your gut microbiome may contribute to your GABA levels as some bacteria can produce and/ or consume GABA. The role of gut bacteria that consume GABA in mental health is currently not well understood. If you are concerned about your mental health, it is important to seek professional help. Histamine is a biogenic amine which plays an important role in immunoregulation and intestinal function. Histamine is produced by human cells as well as some microbes. Human colonocytes have the capacity to degrade and transport histamine, suggesting that human genetic variations will affect the capacity of the microbiome to contribute to systemic histamine levels.

Variations in histamine receptor types will alter the impact of histamine within different body systems. In vitro studies suggest that histamine-2 receptor stimulation has an immunomodulatory impact resulting in an anti-inflammatory effect.

Histamine producing microbes

Co-Biome Evidence Statement:

Human studies have suggested that patients with IBD may have increased microbes that produce histamine, and histamine shows a reduced anti-inflammatory capacity potentially due to reduced expression of histamine-2 receptors on immune cells (Evidence Grade: D).

Human studies in patients with IBS have shown that histamine-1 receptor antagonists reduce visceral hypersensitivity and abdominal pain (Evidence Grade: B).

Vitamin K producing microbes

K vitamins are a family of fat-soluble vitamins which play an important role in blood clotting. Vitamin K cannot be produced by human cells and must be obtained through diet or the microbiome. Vitamin K1 (phylloquinone) is found in plants, such as dark leafy vegetables, and is the principal form of dietary vitamin K used by the body. Bacterially derived vitamin K (menaquinones) are produced by our gut bacteria and are found in fermented foods, dairy products and meat. The amount of bacterially derived vitamin K (menaquinones) that can be absorbed by the large intestine is unknown.

Lactate producing microbes

Lactate is an organic compound produced through the microbial fermentation of carbohydrates.

Bacterial pathogens

Pathogens are microbes that can cause illness. The targeted pathogen panel detects bacterial pathogens at the genus, species, and pathotype level.

Detection of E. coli pathotypes

Escherichia coli naturally colonises the gastrointestinal tract and encompasses a wide number of strains. Most *E. coli* strains are harmless but some are foodbourne pathogens and can cause gastroenteritis.

Enterotoxigenic <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i> (ETEC)	Enterotoxigenic <i>E. coli</i> (ETEC) strains are the main cause of travellers' diarrhoea and cholera-like disease in areas with poor sanitation. Traveller's diarrhoea is usually self-limiting. Mild cases require symptomatic treatment only. Rehydration is the mainstay of therapy and anti-diarrhoeal drugs can be considered but should not be used in children. Antibiotics are effective for moderate to severe traveller's diarrhoea.
Enteroaggregative <i>E. coli</i> (EAEC)	Enteroaggregative <i>E. coli</i> (EAEC) strains are associated with travellers' diarrhoea and/ or persistent diarrhoea. Traveller's diarrhoea is usually self-limiting. Mild cases require symptomatic treatment only. Rehydration is the mainstay of therapy and antidiarrhoeal drugs can be considered but should not be used in children. Antibiotics are effective for moderate to severe traveller's diarrhoea.
E. coli O157	<i>E. coli</i> O157 can cause acute diarrhoea, bloody diarrhoea (haemorrhagic colitis), and haemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS). Medical treatment is recommended for symptomatic patients. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis or HUS is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.
Shiga toxin	Shiga toxin-producing <i>E. coli</i> (STEC) can cause acute diarrhoea, bloody diarrhoea (haemorrhagic colitis), and haemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS). Medical treatment is recommended for symptomatic patients. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis or HUS is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.
Shigella spp./EIEC	<i>Shigella</i> spp. and enteroinvasive <i>E. coli</i> (EIEC) can cause diarrhoea with fever, and in some cases the diarrhoea is bloody. Medical treatment is recommended for symptomatic patients. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.
Enteropathogenic <i>E. coli</i> (EPEC)	Enteropathogenic <i>E. coli</i> (EPEC) is a major cause of infantile diarrhoea in the developing world. Medical treatment is recommended for symptomatic patients.

Identification of specific pathogenic species

Yersinia enterocolitica	Yersinia enterocolitica is a foodbourne pathogen that can cause invasive gastroenteritis and is often associated with bloody diarrhoea. Colonisation with non-toxigenic strains is possible. Most cases are self-limiting. Medical treatment is likely only required for immunocompromised patients and those with severe or persistent symptoms; however,
	consideration of the patient's clinical presentation is recommended. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.

Detection of Clostridium difficile pathotypes

Clostridium difficile toxin B	<i>C. difficile</i> is one of the major causes of healthcare-associated infections and <i>C. difficile</i> toxin B plays an important role in its pathogenicity. Risk factors include antibiotic use, proton pump inhibitor use, old age, immunosuppression and inflammatory bowel disease. Infections can cause severe gastroenteritis. Medical treatment is recommended for symptomatic patients. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.
Hypervirulent Clostridium difficile	<i>C. difficile</i> is one of the major causes of healthcare-associated infections and hypervirulent <i>C. difficile</i> strains are suggested to produce more of the toxins A and B that are important for their pathogenicity. Risk factors include antibiotic use, proton pump inhibitor use, old age, immunosuppression and inflammatory bowel disease. Infections can cause severe gastroenteritis. Medical treatment is recommended for symptomatic patients. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.

Identification of groups of species at the genus level

Aeromonas spp.	Aeromonas spp. are food and waterbourne pathogens that are common in fresh and brackish water. Clinical presentations include asymptomatic carriage and traveller's diarrhoea. Most cases are self-limiting. Medical treatment is likely only required for immunocompromised patients and those with severe or persistent symptoms; however, consideration of the patient's clinical presentation is recommended.
Campylobacter spp.	<i>Campylobacter jejuni</i> and <i>coli</i> are foodbourne pathogens that can cause gastroenteritis. Most cases are self-limiting. Medical treatment is likely only required for immunocompromised patients and those with severe or persistent symptoms; however, consideration of the patient's clinical presentation is recommended. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.
Salmonella spp.	Salmonella spp. are foodbourne pathogens that can cause gastroenteritis and sometimes bloody diarrhoea. Most cases are self-limiting. Medical treatment is likely only required for immunocompromised patients and those with severe or persistent symptoms; however, consideration of the patient's clinical presentation is recommended. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.
<i>Vibrio</i> spp.	<i>Vibrio</i> species (<i>V. cholerae</i> , <i>V. parahaemolyticus</i> and <i>V. vulnificus</i>) are waterbourne pathogens that usually cause watery diarrhoea and fever, and sometimes bloody diarrhoea. Colonisation with non-toxigenic strains is possible. Most cases are self-limiting. Medical treatment is likely only required for immunocompromised patients and those with severe or persistent symptoms; however, consideration of the patient's clinical presentation is recommended. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.

Targeted Pathogen Panel

The targeted pathogen panel diagnostic testing is included in the MetaXplore GI Plus test only. The targeted pathogen panel uses RT-PCR (real-time polymerase chain reaction) which is a highly sensitive method for the detection of specific regions of DNA which typically indicates the presence of the pathogen, species or genus reported. It will detect the listed microbes even if present at very low levels but will not provide any other information about the microbiome.

Protozoan parasites

Protozoan parasites are microscopic organisms that live within a host.

Cryptosporidium spp.	<i>Cryptosporidium</i> are waterbourne parasites that can cause gastroenteritis. In humans, the majority of cryptosporidiosis cases are caused by <i>C.hominis</i> or <i>C.parvum</i> . Most cases are self-limiting. Medical treatment is likely only required for immunocompromised patients and those with severe or persistent symptoms; however, consideration of the patient's clinical presentation is recommended. Specialist medical advice is recommended for treatment.
Cyclospora cayetanensis	<i>Cyclospora cayetanensis</i> is a waterbourne parasite that can cause gastroenteritis. Most cases are self-limiting. Medical treatment is likely only required for immunocompromised patients and those with severe or persistent symptoms; however, consideration of the patient's clinical presentation is recommended.
Dientamoeba fragilis	The pathogenic role of <i>Dientamoeba fragilis</i> has not been established. Most cases do not require antimicrobial treatment and this will often not clear the protozoa but may disrupt the normal gut microbiome. If symptomatic, other causes should be excluded (e.g. other infections, irritable bowel syndrome, food intolerances). Screening for clearance of the organism or testing of family members is not recommended.
Entamoeba histolytica	<i>Entamoeba histolytica</i> is a food and waterbourne parasite that can cause amoebic dysentery. The clinical presentation can range from asymptomatic carriage to invasive gastroenteritis. Medical treatment is recommended even in asymptomatic patients to prevent the spread of disease. If faecal occult blood is also positive or haemorrhagic colitis is suspected, urgent further investigation and specialist consultation is recommended.
Giardia lamblia	<i>Giardia lamblia</i> (syn. <i>G.duodenalis</i> and <i>G.intestinalis</i>) is a waterbourne parasite that can cause gastroenteritis. The clinical presentation ranges from asymptomatic carriage to acute and chronic gastrointestinal infections. Medical treatment is recommended for symptomatic patients.

The pathogenic role of Dientamoeba fragilis has not been established.

Understanding targeted pathogen panel results

Detected	DNA target has been detected. The targeted pathogen panel is so sensitive that it can detect clinically insignificant levels of microbes. Results must be considered within the context of the patient's clinical presentation.
Indeterminant	Testing has produced discrepant results that cannot be resolved as either a negative or positive. If indicated by the patient's clinical presentation repeat sample collection for further testing is recommended.
Not detected	DNA target has not been detected which indicates the associated microbes are not present in the sample. There may be other pathogens present which are not covered by the targeted pathogen panel.

Microbial marker interpretation

Acetate producing microbes	25
B. fragilis toxin producing microbes	26
Beta-glucuronidase producing microbes	27
BCAA producing microbes	28
Butyrate producing microbes	29
Hexa-LPS producing microbes	30
Hydrogen sulphide producing microbes	31
IPA producing microbes	32
Methane producing microbes	33
Microbial diversity	34
Microbial richness	35
Mucin consuming microbes	36
Oxalate consuming microbes	37
Propionate producing microbes	38
Trimethylamine producing microbes	39

ACETATE PRODUCING MICROBES

Overview	Acetate is the most abundant short-chain fatty acid produced by our gut microbiome and can be converted by some species to butyrate, thus contributing to overall butyrate production.		
Interpretation	•	ND (64.29%)	
	Low levels	of acetate may be associated with intestinal inflammation.	

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal inflammation	PP,IV	Studies in human cell lines and animals suggest acetate can modulate intestinal inflammation. It will reduce inflammation when the immune system is in its normal state, but will enhance the immune response when the immune system is activated. Acetate does this by influencing the differentiation of T cells, activating the GPR43 receptor, and promoting gene transcription by histone acetylation.

|--|

B. FRAGILIS TOXIN PRODUCING MICROBES

Overview	<i>Bacteroides fragilis</i> is a normal inhabitant of the human gut. A small proportion of <i>B. fragilis</i> strains have the ability to secrete a toxin called fragilysin.	
Interpretation	•	ND (0.01%)
	High <i>B. frag</i> integrity.	gilis toxin may be associated with impaired intestinal barrier

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal barrier	PP,IV	In vitro and animal studies suggest <i>B. fragilis</i> toxin impairs intestinal barrier integrity. It does this by binding to colonic cells and promoting the cleavage of the adhesion protein E-cadherin, resulting in the disruption of tight junctions in the cell barrier.

Literature	Wu et al., 1998, Wu et al., 2007, Sears, 2009, Weikel et al., 1992, Kim et
	al., 2005

BETA-GLUCURONIDASE PRODUCING MICROBES

Overview	Beta-glucuronidase is a bacterial enzyme that can re-activate a wide variety of drugs and hormones.	
Interpretation	•	ND 16.45%
	In vitro and anim re-activate a wid	al studies suggest microbial beta-glucuronidases can e variety of drugs and hormones. High levels of beta-

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Detox/retox	PP,IV	In vitro and animal studies suggest microbial beta- glucuronidases can re-activate a wide variety of drugs and hormones. High levels of beta-glucuronidase may affect drug response and toxicity.

glucuronidase may affect drug response and toxicity.

Literature	Pollet et al., 2017, Ervin et al., 2019, Chamseddine et al., 2019
------------	---

BCAA PRODUCING MICROBES

Overview	Branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs), which include valine, leucine and isoleucine, are essential amino acids. Although BCAAs are derived from the diet, they are also produced by the gut microbiome which can contribute to elevated levels of plasma BCAAs.	
Interpretation	•	ND 53.01 %
	High levels inflammatic	of plasma BCAAs may be associated with systemic on.

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Systemic inflammation	D	High levels of plasma BCAAs may be associated with systemic inflammation in women.

Literature	Hamaya et al., 2021
------------	---------------------

BUTYRATE PRODUCING MICROBES

```
Overview
```

Butyrate is a beneficial short-chain fatty acid that is important for gut health.



Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Systemic inflammation	D	Lower levels of plasma butyrate may be associated with systemic inflammation in pregnant women.
Intestinal inflammation	PP,IV	Studies in human cell lines and animals suggest butyrate reduces intestinal inflammation. It does this through multiple mechanisms, including promoting the development of anti-inflammatory T regulatory cells, inhibiting activation of the NF-KB inflammatory pathway, and reducing production of pro-inflammatory molecules.
Intestinal barrier	PP,IV	In vitro and animal studies suggest butyrate enhances the intestinal barrier by serving as the main energy source for colon cells through beta-oxidation, and regulating the assembly of tight junction proteins and transcription factor HIF that coordinates barrier protection.

Literature	Arpaia et al., 2013a, Gomez-Arango et al., 2016, Kelly et al., 2015, Peng
	et al., 2009, Roediger, 1980, Rosser et al., 2020, Singh et al., 2014, Wang
	et al., 2020

HEXA-LPS PRODUCING MICROBES

Overview

Hexa-acylated lipopolysaccharides (hexa-LPS) are bacterial cell wall components of bacteria within the Gammaproteobacteria class.



Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal inflammation	PP,IV	Studies in human cell lines and animals suggest that hexa-LPS promotes intestinal inflammation through the activation of the immune receptor TLR4.
Systemic inflammation	PP,IV	In vitro and animal studies suggest that hexa-LPS promotes inflammation through activation of the immune receptor TLR4. If hexa-LPS is able to leave the gut (e.g. poor intestinal barrier integrity), it may trigger an inflammatory response in immune cells within the peripheral circulation, contributing to low-grade systemic inflammation.
Intestinal barrier	PP,IV	In vitro and animal studies suggest that hexa-LPS can increase intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability through the activation of the immune receptor TLR4.

Literature	Schromm et al., 2000, Chang et al., 2021, Zamyatina & Heine, 2020,
	Nighot et al., 2017, Anhê et al., 2021, Matsuura, 2013

HYDROGEN SULPHIDE PRODUCING MICROBES

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal barrier	PP,IV	In vitro and animal studies suggest high levels of hydrogen sulphide can compromise intestinal barrier integrity by splitting mucin disulfide bonds and inhibiting the uptake of butyrate by colon cells. In contrast, average to low levels of hydrogen sulphide can be protective of mucin barrier integrity.

Literature	ljssennagger et al., 2015, Blachier et al., 2021, Babidge et al., 1998
------------	--

IPA PRODUCING MICROBES

Overview

3-indolepropionic acid (IPA) is a beneficial substance produced by some gut bacteria when they break down the amino acid tryptophan.



Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Systemic Inflammation	D	Higher levels of plasma IPA are associated with lower systemic inflammation.
Intestinal inflammation	PP,IV	Studies in human cell lines and animals suggest IPA reduces intestinal inflammation. It does this by inhibiting the activation of the immune receptor TLR4, promoting the development of anti-inflammatory T regulatory cells, and by helping to maintain a balance of pro- and anti- inflammatory molecules.
Intestinal barrier	PP,IV	In vitro and animal studies suggest that IPA can improve the intestinal barrier by reducing pro-inflammatory molecules, increasing production of tight junction proteins and increasing the secretion of mucin.

Literature	Alexeev et al., 2018, de Mello et al., 2017, J. Li et al., 2021, Yisireyili et al.,
	2017, Peron et al., 2022, Tuomainen et al., 2018, Venkatesh et al., 2014,
	Zhao et al., 2019

METHANE PRODUCING MICROBES

Overview	Methane is an odourless gas produced by Archaeal species which can also be called methanogens. Only around 1/3 of microbiomes contain methanogens.	
Interpretation	C ND 6.95%	
	High levels of methane may be associated with reduced intestinal motility.	

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal motility	С	A slower gut transit time and/or constipation may be associated with higher methane production.

Literature Asnicar, Leeming, et al., 2021a, Roager et al., 2016, Attaluri et al., 2010	
--	--

MICROBIAL DIVERSITY

Overview	Microbial diversity is a measure that accounts for the number of different species (richness) and their relative abundance (evenness). This is assessed using the Shannon Index, a measure widely used by the scientific community. Low microbial diversity could reflect low numbers of species (low richness) or that certain species dominate the microbiome (low evenness).
----------	--

Interpretation	Ŧ	ND • 3.62
	Low microbial diversity may be associated microbiome instability, systemic inflammation and faster gut transit time.	

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Other	В	Higher diversity is associated with stability of the microbiome over time.
Systemic inflammation	D	Low diversity may be associated with increased systemic inflammation.
Intestinal motility	D	A slower gut transit time may be associated with higher diversity.

Literature	Asnicar, Leeming, et al., 2021b, Mokkala et al., 2020a, Byrd et al., 2021,
	Zhernakova et al., 2016a, Mehta et al., 2018, Chen et al., 2021

MICROBIAL RICHNESS

Overview	Microbial richness is a measure of the number of different species in a sample.	
Interpretation	Ð	ND • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
	Low microbial richness may be associated with systemic inflammation and faster gut transit time.	

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Systemic inflammation	D	Low richness may be associated with increased systemic inflammation.
Intestinal motility	D	A slower gut transit time may be associated with higher richness

LiteratureAsnicar, Leeming, et al., 2021c, Mokkala et al., 2020b, Asnicar, Berry, et al., 2021
--

MUCIN CONSUMING MICROBES

0	-	
	ervi	lew

Mucin is a component of the mucus layer that lines and protects the epithelial gut barrier.



Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal inflammation	D	High mucin consuming microbes may be associated with intestinal inflammation.
Intestinal inflammation	D	Colorectal cancer may be associated with increased mucin consuming microbes.
Intestinal inflammation	D	Ulcerative colitis may be associated with reduced mucin consuming microbes.

Literature Dubinsky et al., 2021, Wirbel et al., 2019, Zhernakova et al., 2016b

OXALATE CONSUMING MICROBES

Overview	Oxalate is a key component of calcium oxalate kidney stones.	
Interpretation	•	ND (461)
	Low microbial oxalate consumption may be associated with increased urinary oxalate excretion.	

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Detox/retox	С	Decreased oxalate consuming microbes may be associated with increased urinary oxalate excretion and may be reduced in patients with recurrent kidney stones.

Literature	Siener et al., 2013, Ticinesi et al., 2018
------------	--

PROPIONATE PRODUCING MICROBES

```
Overview
```

Propionate is a short-chain fatty acid produced by the gut microbiome.



Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal motility	D	Slower gut transit time may be associated with a higher proportion of propionate producing microbes.
Intestinal inflammation	PP, IV	Studies in human cell lines and animals indicate propionate can influence intestinal inflammation. It can reduce inflammation when the immune system is in its normal state, but can enhance the immune response when the immune system is activated. Propionate does this by promoting the development of anti-inflammatory regulatory T cells and by influencing the balance of pro- and anti-inflammatory immune molecules through activation of G-protein coupled receptors.

Literature	Asnicar, Leeming, et al., 2021d, Arpaia et al., 2013b, Jin et al., 2017, Smith
	et al., 2013

TRIMETHYLAMINE PRODUCING MICROBES

Overview	Trimethylamine is produced by gut microbes from the breakdown of choline and carnitine. It is transported to the liver where it is converted to the compound trimethylamine-n-oxide (TMAO).	
Interpretation	ND 6.37 %	
	High levels of TMAO may be associated with systemic inflammation.	

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Systemic inflammation	В	Higher levels of plasma TMAO are associated with systemic inflammation, especially in patients with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease.

Literature	Gencer et al., 2020, Senthong et al., 2016, Farhangi & Vajdi, 2020
------------	--

Gastrointestinal health marker interpretation

Calprotectin	41
Faecal pH	42
Lactoferrin	43
Occult blood	44
Pancreatic elastase	45
Secretory IgA	46
Zonulin	47

CALPROTECTIN

Overview Calprotectin is a marker for acute intestinal inflammation and can estimate the degree of inflammation. It is commonly used to distinguish active inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) from irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and monitoring disease activity and relapse prediction in organic intestinal diseases, such as IBD and colorectal cancer.

Interpretation	•	ND (189.39
	High calpro difficile toxi investigatio	otectin is seen in patients with IBD, bacterial diarrhoea, <i>C.</i> in and NSAID use. High calprotectin should warrant further on if the cause is unknown.

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal inflammation	A	Faecal calprotectin has a high sensitivity and lower specificity in identifying inflammation in IBD. Faecal calprotectin performs better in ulcerative colitis than in Crohn's disease
Intestinal inflammation	С	High faecal calprotectin may be considered to indicate bacterial causes for acute diarrhoea, as opposed to viral or non-infectious causes.
Intestinal inflammation	С	High faecal calprotectin may be associated with the presence of faecal <i>C. difficile</i> toxin.

Literature	Mosli et al., 2015a, Weh et al., 2013a, Barbut et al., 2017, Rokkas et al.,
	2018, JF. Lin et al., 2014, Shastri et al., 2008

FAECAL PH

Overview	Faecal pH is a marker of gut transit time.		
Interpretation		ND (6.95	
	Low faecal may indicat It can also f (SCFAs). As time is asso of faecal SC Low faecal doses to ca who are co	pH may be indicative of rapid transit time while elevated pH te longer transit time. be utilised to estimate absorption of short-chain fatty acids s SCFAs are absorbed via passive diffusion, longer gut transit ociated with increased absorption and therefore lower levels CFAs. pH may be seen in patients consuming lactulose at sufficient suse osmotic diarrhoea or patients with lactose intolerance insuming lactose.	

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal motility	С	Faecal pH is correlated with gut transit time with high pH suggesting longer gut transit time while low pH is associated with faster gut transit time.
Intestinal motility	В	Faecal pH is inversely related to faecal SCFA levels (pH range 5.7 to 8).
Intestinal motility	D	Methane production may be associated with increased faecal pH.
Intestinal motility	С	Lactulose at sufficient doses to cause osmotic diarrhoea reduces faecal pH.
Intestinal motility	D	Excess lactose consumption in patients with lactose intolerance may be associated with reduced faecal pH.

Literature	McOrist et al., 2008, Holma et al., 2013, Holma et al., 2012, Clausen et
	al., 1998, Lewis & Heaton, 1997, Abdel-Hafez et al., 1993, Atterbury et al.,
	1978, El Oufir et al., 1996, Stephen et al., 1986, Mortensen, 1992

LACTOFERRIN

Overview	Lactoferrin is a marker of intestinal inflammatory activity. It is commonly used to monitor disease activity, treatment response and relapse prediction in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).		
Interpretation	0	ND .06	
	High lactoferrin is seen in patients with active IBD, bacterial diarrhoea and <i>C. difficile</i> toxin. High lactoferrin should warrant further investigation if the cause is unknown.		

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal inflammation	С	High faecal lactoferrin may be associated with inflammation in Crohn's disease.
Intestinal inflammation	С	Faecal lactoferrin may assist in distinguishing bacterial from non-infectious and viral acute diarrhoea. High faecal lactoferrin may indicate bacterial infection while low faecal lactoferrin may be used to exclude bacterial gut infection.
Intestinal inflammation	С	High faecal lactoferrin may be associated with presence of faecal <i>C. difficile</i> toxin.

Literature	Mosli et al., 2015b, H. M. Lee et al., 2015, Weh et al., 2013b, Boone et al.,
	2013, Vernia et al., 2021

OCCULT BLOOD

Overview	Faecal occu faecal occu a serious co affected by	It blood is a marker of intestinal bleeding. Early diagnosis of It blood has been shown to significantly reduce the risk of blorectal disease. In addition, the accuracy of the test is not interfering substances, and dietary restriction is not necessary.
Interpretation	•	DETECTED
	A positive fa and inflamr should warr	aecal occult blood is seen in patients with colorectal cancer natory bowel disease (IBD]. A positive faecal occult blood rant further investigated if the cause is unknown.

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal inflammation	A	A positive occult blood is predictive of an increased risk of a colorectal cancer diagnosis.
Intestinal inflammation	В	A positive occult blood is predictive of an increased risk of an IBD diagnosis.
Intestinal inflammation	A	A negative occult blood in patients with ulcerative colitis is a marker for mucosal healing.

Literature	J. K. Lee et al., 2014, He et al., 2019, Fu et al., 2017, Zhong et al., 2020,
	Digby et al., 2020, Dai et al., 2018, State et al., 2021, Lué et al., 2020

PANCREATIC ELASTASE

Overview	Pancreatic elastase is a marker of pancreatic exocrine function. It is commonly used for diagnosis or exclusion of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and the monitoring of exocrine pancreatic function in cystic fibrosis, diabetes mellitus, or chronic pancreatitis.	
Interpretation	•	ND 461.97
	A low pancr exocrine pa if cause is u Liquid stool is recomme tests for the	reatic elastase concentration (< 100 µg/ml) indicates severe ncreatic insufficiency and should warrant further investigation nknown. s may lead to false pancreatic elastase results. In such cases, it inded to also consider clinical symptoms and other diagnostic e final diagnosis.

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Digestive secretions	С	Pancreatic elastase testing may be a valid method for detecting severe pancreatic insufficiency. Elastase-1 may be an inaccurate marker for ruling out mild-moderate pancreatic insufficiency.

SECRETORY IgA



Elevated sIgA is seen in patients with intestinal inflammation, intestinal permeability, IBS-D and autoimmune conditions. Low levels are seen in patients with increased fasting blood glucose.

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal inflammation	D	High faecal sIgA may be considered as a marker of intestinal inflammation and strongly associated with elevated faecal calprotectin.
Intestinal barrier	D	Faecal sIgA may be positively associated with faecal zonulin (a marker of intestinal permeability).
Intestinal barrier	PP,IV	Studies in human cell lines suggest sIgA reduces <i>C. difficile</i> toxin A induced intestinal permeability.
Other	D	Faecal sIgA may be considered to be elevated in IBS-D.
Other	D	Faecal sIgA may be considered to be elevated in systemic lupus erythematosus.
Other	D	Reduced faecal sIgA may be associated with increased fasting blood glucose in obese patients.

Literature	R. Lin et al., 2018, Chen et al., 2020, Olson et al., 2013, Gudi et al., 2022,
	Liu et al., 2020, Azzouz et al., 2019, Istomin et al., 2022

ZONULIN

Overview

Zonulin is a marker of increased intestinal permeability. Zonulin binds to a specific receptor on the surface of intestinal epithelia and triggers a cascade of biochemical events which induces tight junction disassembly and a subsequent increase in permeability across the intestinal epithelium. This allows substances from the gut lumen to pass across the epithelium and activate immune reactions.

Interpretation	•	ND • 38.29
	Elevated zo diabetes m inflammato following h	onulin is seen in patients with active coeliac disease, type 1 ellitus, metabolic syndrome, obesity, autoimmune disease, ory diseases, neoplastic diseases, high faecal histamine, igh intensity exercise, and acute psychological stress.

Health Category	Evidence Grade	Evidence Statement
Intestinal barrier	PP,IV	In vitro and animal studies indicate that the release of zonulin family peptides stimulates the disassembly of intercellular tight junctions.
Intestinal barrier	С	High faecal zonulin may be associated with high faecal histamine.
Intestinal barrier	С	High intensity exercise may be associated with increased intestinal permeability.
Intestinal barrier	D	Acute psychological stress may be considered to increase intestinal permeability.

Literature	Drago et al., 2006, Tripathi et al., 2009, Schink et al., 2018, Vanuytsel et al., 2014, Marchbank et al., 2011, Axelrod et al., 2019, Davison et al.,
	2016, C. Li et al., 2016

References

Abdel-Hafez, M. A., El-Hawey, A. M., Waheeb, A. A., Hussein, A. T., & Soliman, A. A. (1993). Lactase deficiency in patients with intestinal schistosomiasis. *Annals of Saudi Medicine*, 13(1), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.5144/0256-4947.1993.31

Alexeev, E. E., Lanis, J. M., Kao, D. J., Campbell, E. L., Kelly, C. J., Battista, K. D., Gerich, M. E., Jenkins, B. R., Walk, S. T., Kominsky, D. J., & Colgan, S. P. (2018). Microbiota-Derived Indole Metabolites Promote Human and Murine Intestinal Homeostasis through Regulation of Interleukin-10 Receptor. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 188(5), 1183–1194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2018.01.011

Anhê, F. F., Barra, N. G., Cavallari, J. F., Henriksbo, B. D., & Schertzer, J. D. (2021). Metabolic endotoxemia is dictated by the type of lipopolysaccharide. *Cell Reports, 36*(11), 109691. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109691

Arpaia, N., Campbell, C., Fan, X., Dikiy, S., van der Veeken, J., deRoos, P., Liu, H., Cross, J. R., Pfeffer, K., Coffer, P. J., & Rudensky, A. Y. (2013a). Metabolites produced by commensal bacteria promote peripheral regulatory T-cell generation. *Nature*, *504*(7480), 451–455. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12726

Asnicar, F., Berry, S. E., Valdes, A. M., Nguyen, L. H., Piccinno, G., Drew, D. A., Leeming, E., Gibson, R., Le Roy, C., Khatib, H. A., Francis, L., Mazidi, M., Mompeo, O., Valles-Colomer, M., Tett, A., Beghini, F., Dubois, L., Bazzani, D., Thomas, A. M., ... Segata, N. (2021). Microbiome connections with host metabolism and habitual diet from 1,098 deeply phenotyped individuals. *Nature Medicine, 27*(2), 321–332. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-01183-8

Asnicar, F., Leeming, E. R., Dimidi, E., Mazidi, M., Franks, P. W., Al Khatib, H., Valdes, A. M., Davies, R., Bakker, E., Francis, L., Chan, A., Gibson, R., Hadjigeorgiou, G., Wolf, J., Spector, T. D., Segata, N., & Berry, S. E. (2021a). Blue poo: Impact of gut transit time on the gut microbiome using a novel marker. Gut, 70(9), 1665–1674. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-323877

Attaluri, A., Jackson, M., Valestin, J., & Rao, S. S. C. (2010). Methanogenic flora is associated with altered colonic transit but not stool characteristics in constipation without IBS. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, *105*(6), 1407–1411. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2009.655

Atterbury, C. E., Maddrey, W. C., & Conn, H. O. (1978). Neomycin-sorbitol and lactulose in the treatment of acute portal-systemic encephalopathy. A controlled, double-blind clinical trial. *The American Journal of Digestive Diseases, 23*(5), 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01072921

Axelrod, C. L., Brennan, C. J., Cresci, G., Paul, D., Hull, M., Fealy, C. E., & Kirwan, J. P. (2019). UCC118 supplementation reduces exercise-induced gastrointestinal permeability and remodels the gut microbiome in healthy humans. *Physiological Reports*, *7*(22), e14276. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.14276

Azzouz, D., Omarbekova, A., Heguy, A., Schwudke, D., Gisch, N., Rovin, B. H., Caricchio, R., Buyon, J. P., Alekseyenko, A. V., & Silverman, G. J. (2019). Lupus nephritis is linked to disease-activity associated expansions and immunity to a gut commensal. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, 78*(7), 947–956. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-214856

Babidge, W., Millard, S., & Roediger, W. (1998). Sulfides impair short chain fatty acid beta-oxidation at acyl-CoA dehydrogenase level in colonocytes: Implications for ulcerative colitis. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, *181*(1–2), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1006838231432

Barbut, F., Gouot, C., Lapidus, N., Suzon, L., Syed-Zaidi, R., Lalande, V., & Eckert, C. (2017). Faecal lactoferrin and calprotectin in patients with Clostridium difficile infection: A case-control study. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases : Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology, 36*(12), 2423–2430. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-017-3080-y Blachier, F., Andriamihaja, M., Larraufie, P., Ahn, E., Lan, A., & Kim, E. (2021). Production of hydrogen sulfide by the intestinal microbiota and epithelial cells and consequences for the colonic and rectal mucosa. American Journal of Physiology. *Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 320*(2), G125–G135. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00261.2020

Boone, J. H., DiPersio, J. R., Tan, M. J., Salstrom, S.-J., Wickham, K. N., Carman, R. J., Totty, H. R., Albert, R. E., & Lyerly, D. M. (2013). Elevated lactoferrin is associated with moderate to severe Clostridium difficile disease, stool toxin, and 027 infection. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology* & Infectious Diseases: Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology, 32(12), 1517–1523. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-013-1905-x

Byrd, A. L., Liu, M., Fujimura, K. E., Lyalina, S., Nagarkar, D. R., Charbit, B., Bergstedt, J., Patin, E., Harrison, O. J., Quintana-Murci, L., Mellman, I., Duffy, D., & Albert, M. L. (2021). Gut microbiome stability and dynamics in healthy donors and patients with non-gastrointestinal cancers. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 218*(1). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20200606

Chamseddine, A. N., Ducreux, M., Armand, J.-P., Paoletti, X., Satar, T., Paci, A., & Mir, O. (2019). Intestinal bacterial β -glucuronidase as a possible predictive biomarker of irinotecan-induced diarrhea severity. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 199, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2019.03.002

Chang, Y., Deng, Q., Zhang, Z., Zhao, H., Tang, J., Chen, X., Liu, G., Tian, G., Cai, J., & Jia, G. (2021). Glucagon-like peptide 2 attenuates intestinal mucosal barrier injury through the MLCK/pMLC signaling pathway in a piglet model. *Journal of Cellular Physiology, 236*(4), 3015–3032. https://doi. org/10.1002/jcp.30068

Chen, L., Reynolds, C., David, R., & Peace Brewer, A. (2020). Development of an Index Score for Intestinal Inflammation-Associated Dysbiosis Using Real-World Stool Test Results. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, *65*(4), 1111–1124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-019-05828-8

Chen, L., Wang, D., Garmaeva, S., Kurilshikov, A., Vich Vila, A., Gacesa, R., Sinha, T., Segal, E., Weersma, R. K., Wijmenga, C., Zhernakova, A., & Fu, J. (2021). The long-term genetic stability and individual specificity of the human gut microbiome. *Cell, 184*(9), 2302-2315.e12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2021.03.024

Clausen, M. R., Jørgensen, J., & Mortensen, P. B. (1998). Comparison of diarrhea induced by ingestion of fructooligosaccharide Idolax and disaccharide lactulose: Role of osmolarity versus fermentation of malabsorbed carbohydrate. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences, 43*(12), 2696–2707. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026659512786

Dai, C., Jiang, M., Sun, M.-J., & Cao, Q. (2018). Fecal immunochemical test for predicting mucosal healing in ulcerative colitis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 33*(5), 990–997. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.14121

Davison, G., Marchbank, T., March, D. S., Thatcher, R., & Playford, R. J. (2016). Zinc carnosine works with bovine colostrum in truncating heavy exercise-induced increase in gut permeability in healthy volunteers. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 104*(2), 526–536. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.116.134403

de Mello, V. D., Paananen, J., Lindström, J., Lankinen, M. A., Shi, L., Kuusisto, J., Pihlajamäki, J., Auriola, S., Lehtonen, M., Rolandsson, O., Bergdahl, I. A., Nordin, E., Ilanne-Parikka, P., Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi, S., Landberg, R., Eriksson, J. G., Tuomilehto, J., Hanhineva, K., & Uusitupa, M. (2017). Indolepropionic acid and novel lipid metabolites are associated with a lower risk of type 2 diabetes in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. *Scientific Reports, 7*, 46337. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep46337

Digby, J., Cleary, S., Gray, L., Datt, P., Goudie, D. R., Steele, R. J. C., Strachan, J. A., Humphries, A., Fraser, C. G., & Mowat, C. (2020). Faecal haemoglobin can define risk of colorectal neoplasia at surveillance colonoscopy in patients at increased risk of colorectal cancer. *United European Gastroenterology Journal*, *8*(5), 559–566. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640620913674

Drago, S., El Asmar, R., Di Pierro, M., Grazia Clemente, M., Tripathi, A., Sapone, A., Thakar, M., Iacono, G., Carroccio, A., D'Agate, C., Not, T., Zampini, L., Catassi, C., & Fasano, A. (2006). Gliadin, zonulin and gut permeability: Effects on celiac and non-celiac intestinal mucosa and intestinal cell lines. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, *41*(4), 408–419. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365520500235334

Dubinsky, V., Reshef, L., Rabinowitz, K., Yadgar, K., Godny, L., Zonensain, K., Wasserberg, N., Dotan, I., & Gophna, U. (2021). Dysbiosis in Metabolic Genes of the Gut Microbiomes of Patients with an Ileoanal Pouch Resembles That Observed in Crohn's Disease. *MSystems*, *6*(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/ mSystems.00984-20

El Oufir, L., Flourié, B., Bruley des Varannes, S., Barry, J. L., Cloarec, D., Bornet, F., & Galmiche, J. P. (1996). Relations between transit time, fermentation products, and hydrogen consuming flora in healthy humans. *Gut, 38*(6), 870–877. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.38.6.870

Ervin, S. M., Li, H., Lim, L., Roberts, L. R., Liang, X., Mani, S., & Redinbo, M. R. (2019). Gut microbial β-glucuronidases reactivate estrogens as components of the estrobolome that reactivate estrogens. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 294*(49), 18586–18599. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA119.010950

Farhangi, M. A., & Vajdi, M. (2020). Novel findings of the association between gut microbiota-derived metabolite trimethylamine N-oxide and inflammation: Results from a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 60*(16), 2801–2823. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2020.1770199

Fu, Y., Wang, L., Xie, C., Zou, K., Tu, L., Yan, W., & Hou, X. (2017). Comparison of non-invasive biomarkers faecal BAFF, calprotectin and FOBT in discriminating IBS from IBD and evaluation of intestinal inflammation. *Scientific Reports*, *7*(1), 2669. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02835-5

Gencer, B., Li, X. S., Gurmu, Y., Bonaca, M. P., Morrow, D. A., Cohen, M., Bhatt, D. L., Steg, P. G., Storey, R. F., Johanson, P., Wang, Z., Hazen, S. L., & Sabatine, M. S. (2020). Gut Microbiota-Dependent Trimethylamine N-oxide and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients With Prior Myocardial Infarction: A Nested Case Control Study From the PEGASUS-TIMI 54 Trial. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 9(10), e015331. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.119.015331

Gomez-Arango, L. F., Barrett, H. L., McIntyre, H. D., Callaway, L. K., Morrison, M., Dekker Nitert, M., & SPRING Trial Group. (2016). Increased Systolic and Diastolic Blood Pressure Is Associated With Altered Gut Microbiota Composition and Butyrate Production in Early Pregnancy. *Hypertension (Dallas, Tex.: 1979), 68*(4), 974–981. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.07910

Gudi, R., Kamen, D., & Vasu, C. (2022). Fecal immunoglobulin A (IgA) and its subclasses in systemic lupus erythematosus patients are nuclear antigen reactive and this feature correlates with gut permeability marker levels. *Clinical Immunology (Orlando, Fla.), 242*, 109107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clim.2022.109107

Gullo, L., Ventrucci, M., Tomassetti, P., Migliori, M., & Pezzilli, R. (1999). Fecal elastase 1 determination in chronic pancreatitis. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences, 44*(1), 210–213. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026691209094

Hamaya, R., Mora, S., Lawler, P. R., Cook, N. R., Ridker, P. M., Buring, J. E., Lee, I.-M., Manson, J. E., & Tobias, D. K. (2021). Association of Plasma Branched-Chain Amino Acid With Biomarkers of Inflammation and Lipid Metabolism in Women. Circulation. *Genomic and Precision Medicine*, *14*(4), e003330. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGEN.121.003330

He, E., Alison, R., Blanks, R., Pirie, K., Reeves, G., Ward, R. L., Steele, R., Patnick, J., Canfell, K., Beral, V., & Green, J. (2019). Association of ten gastrointestinal and other medical conditions with positivity to faecal occult blood testing in routine screening: A large prospective study of women in England. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *48*(2), 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyy271

Holma, R., Korpela, R., Sairanen, U., Blom, M., Rautio, M., Poussa, T., Saxelin, M., & Osterlund, P. (2013). Colonic methane production modifies gastrointestinal toxicity associated with adjuvant 5-fluorouracil chemotherapy for colorectal cancer. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 47(1), 45–51. https://doi. org/10.1097/MCG.0b013e3182680201

Holma, R., Osterlund, P., Sairanen, U., Blom, M., Rautio, M., & Korpela, R. (2012). Colonic methanogenesis in vivo and in vitro and fecal pH after resection of colorectal cancer and in healthy intact colon. International *Journal of Colorectal Disease, 27*(2), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00384-011-1323-4

Ijssennagger, N., Belzer, C., Hooiveld, G. J., Dekker, J., van Mil, S. W. C., Müller, M., Kleerebezem, M., & van der Meer, R. (2015). Gut microbiota facilitates dietary heme-induced epithelial hyperproliferation by opening the mucus barrier in colon. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *112*(32), 10038–10043. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1507645112

Istomin, N., Härma, M.-A., Akhi, R., Nissinen, A. E., Savolainen, M. J., Adeshara, K., Lehto, M., Groop, P.-H., Koivukangas, V., Hukkanen, J., & Hörkkö, S. (2022). Total fecal IgA levels increase and natural IgM antibodies decrease after gastric bypass surgery. *APMIS : Acta Pathologica, Microbiologica, et Immunologica Scandinavica, 130*(11), 637–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/apm.13268

Jin, U.-H., Cheng, Y., Park, H., Davidson, L. A., Callaway, E. S., Chapkin, R. S., Jayaraman, A., Asante, A., Allred, C., Weaver, E. A., & Safe, S. (2017). Short Chain Fatty Acids Enhance Aryl Hydrocarbon (Ah) Responsiveness in Mouse Colonocytes and Caco-2 Human Colon Cancer Cells. *Scientific Reports, 7*(1), 10163. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-10824-x

Kelly, C. J., Zheng, L., Campbell, E. L., Saeedi, B., Scholz, C. C., Bayless, A. J., Wilson, K. E., Glover, L. E., Kominsky, D. J., Magnuson, A., Weir, T. L., Ehrentraut, S. F., Pickel, C., Kuhn, K. A., Lanis, J. M., Nguyen, V., Taylor, C. T., & Colgan, S. P. (2015). Crosstalk between Microbiota-Derived Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Intestinal Epithelial HIF Augments Tissue Barrier Function. *Cell Host & Microbe, 17*(5), 662–671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2015.03.005

Kim, J. M., Jung, H. Y., Lee, J. Y., Youn, J., Lee, C.-H., & Kim, K.-H. (2005). Mitogen-activated protein kinase and activator protein-1 dependent signals are essential for Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin-induced enteritis. *European Journal of Immunology, 35*(9), 2648–2657. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200526321

Lee, H. M., Lee, S., Lee, B.-I., Jekarl, D. W., Song, J.-Y., Choi, H.-J., Kang, B. K., Im, E. J., Kim, J. S., Kim, J. I., Kim, B.-W., & Choi, H. (2015). Clinical Significance of Fecal Lactoferrin and Multiplex Polymerase Chain Reaction in Patients with Acute Diarrhea. *Gut and Liver, 9*(5), 636–640. https://doi. org/10.5009/gnl14106

Lee, J. K., Liles, E. G., Bent, S., Levin, T. R., & Corley, D. A. (2014). Accuracy of fecal immunochemical tests for colorectal cancer: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *160*(3), 171. https://doi.org/10.7326/M13-1484

Leodolter, A., Kahl, S., Domínguez-Muñoz, J. E., Gerards, C., Glasbrenner, B., & Malfertheiner, P. (2000). Comparison of two tubeless function tests in the assessment of mild-to-moderate exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. *European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 12*(12), 1335–1338. https://doi. org/10.1097/00042737-200012120-00012

Lewis, S. J., & Heaton, K. W. (1997). Increasing butyrate concentration in the distal colon by accelerating intestinal transit. *Gut*, *41*(2), 245–251. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.41.2.245

Li, C., Gao, M., Zhang, W., Chen, C., Zhou, F., Hu, Z., & Zeng, C. (2016). Zonulin Regulates Intestinal Permeability and Facilitates Enteric Bacteria Permeation in Coronary Artery Disease. *Scientific Reports, 6*, 29142. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29142 Li, J., Zhang, L., Wu, T., Li, Y., Zhou, X., & Ruan, Z. (2021). Indole-3-propionic Acid Improved the Intestinal Barrier by Enhancing Epithelial Barrier and Mucus Barrier. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 69*(5), 1487–1495. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c05205

Lin, J.-F., Chen, J.-M., Zuo, J.-H., Yu, A., Xiao, Z.-J., Deng, F.-H., Nie, B., & Jiang, B. (2014). Metaanalysis: Fecal calprotectin for assessment of inflammatory bowel disease activity. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases*, *20*(8), 1407–1415. https://doi.org/10.1097/MIB.0000000000000057

Lin, R., Chen, H., Shu, W., Sun, M., Fang, L., Shi, Y., Pang, Z., Wu, W., & Liu, Z. (2018). Clinical significance of soluble immunoglobulins A and G and their coated bacteria in feces of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, *16*(1), 359. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12967-018-1723-0

Liu, Y., Yuan, X., Li, L., Lin, L., Zuo, X., Cong, Y., & Li, Y. (2020). Increased Ileal Immunoglobulin A Production and Immunoglobulin A-Coated Bacteria in Diarrhea-Predominant Irritable Bowel Syndrome. *Clinical and Translational Gastroenterology*, *11*(3), e00146. https://doi.org/10.14309/ ctg.000000000000146

Lué, A., Hijos, G., Sostres, C., Perales, A., Navarro, M., Barra, M. V., Mascialino, B., Andalucia, C., Puente, J. J., Lanas, Á., & Gomollon, F. (2020). The combination of quantitative faecal occult blood test and faecal calprotectin is a cost-effective strategy to avoid colonoscopies in symptomatic patients without relevant pathology. *Therapeutic Advances in Gastroenterology, 13*, 1756284820920786. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756284820920786

Marchbank, T., Davison, G., Oakes, J. R., Ghatei, M. A., Patterson, M., Moyer, M. P., & Playford, R. J. (2011). The nutriceutical bovine colostrum truncates the increase in gut permeability caused by heavy exercise in athletes. American Journal of Physiology. *Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 300*(3), G477-484. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00281.2010

Matsuura, M. (2013). Structural Modifications of Bacterial Lipopolysaccharide that Facilitate Gram-Negative Bacteria Evasion of Host Innate Immunity. *Frontiers in Immunology, 4*, 109. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2013.00109

McOrist, A. L., Abell, G. C. J., Cooke, C., & Nyland, K. (2008). Bacterial population dynamics and faecal short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) concentrations in healthy humans. *The British Journal of Nutrition, 100*(1), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114507886351

Mehta, R. S., Abu-Ali, G. S., Drew, D. A., Lloyd-Price, J., Subramanian, A., Lochhead, P., Joshi, A. D., Ivey, K. L., Khalili, H., Brown, G. T., DuLong, C., Song, M., Nguyen, L. H., Mallick, H., Rimm, E. B., Izard, J., Huttenhower, C., & Chan, A. T. (2018). Stability of the human faecal microbiome in a cohort of adult men. *Nature Microbiology*, *3*(3), 347–355. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-017-0096-0

Mokkala, K., Houttu, N., Koivuniemi, E., Sørensen, N., Nielsen, H. B., & Laitinen, K. (2020a). GlycA, a novel marker for low grade inflammation, reflects gut microbiome diversity and is more accurate than high sensitive CRP in reflecting metabolomic profile. *Metabolomics : Official Journal of the Metabolomic Society, 16*(7), 76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11306-020-01695-x

Mortensen, P. B. (1992). The effect of oral-administered lactulose on colonic nitrogen metabolism and excretion. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.), 16*(6), 1350–1356. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.1840160608

Mosli, M. H., Zou, G., Garg, S. K., Feagan, S. G., MacDonald, J. K., Chande, N., Sandborn, W. J., & Feagan, B. G. (2015a). C-Reactive Protein, Fecal Calprotectin, and Stool Lactoferrin for Detection of Endoscopic Activity in Symptomatic Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology, 110*(6), 802–819; quiz 820. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2015.120

Nighot, M., Al-Sadi, R., Guo, S., Rawat, M., Nighot, P., Watterson, M. D., & Ma, T. Y. (2017). Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Increase in Intestinal Epithelial Tight Permeability Is Mediated by Toll-Like Receptor 4/Myeloid Differentiation Primary Response 88 (MyD88) Activation of Myosin Light Chain Kinase Expression. *The American Journal of Pathology, 187*(12), 2698–2710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajpath.2017.08.005

Olson, A., Diebel, L. N., & Liberati, D. M. (2013). Effect of host defenses on Clostridium difficile toxininduced intestinal barrier injury. *The Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 74*(4), 983–989; discussion 989-990. https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.0b013e3182858477

Park, J., Kim, M., Kang, S. G., Jannasch, A. H., Cooper, B., Patterson, J., & Kim, C. H. (2015). Shortchain fatty acids induce both effector and regulatory T cells by suppression of histone deacetylases and regulation of the mTOR-S6K pathway. *Mucosal Immunology, 8*(1), 80–93. https://doi. org/10.1038/mi.2014.44

Peng, L., Li, Z.-R., Green, R. S., Holzman, I. R., & Lin, J. (2009). Butyrate enhances the intestinal barrier by facilitating tight junction assembly via activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in Caco-2 cell monolayers. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *139*(9), 1619–1625. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.104638

Peron, G., Meroño, T., Gargari, G., Hidalgo-Liberona, N., Miñarro, A., Lozano, E. V., Castellano-Escuder,
P., González-Domínguez, R., Del Bo', C., Bernardi, S., Kroon, P. A., Cherubini, A., Riso, P., Guglielmetti,
S., & Andrés-Lacueva, C. (2022). A Polyphenol-Rich Diet Increases the Gut Microbiota Metabolite Indole
3-Propionic Acid in Older Adults with Preserved Kidney Function. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 66(21), e2100349. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.202100349

Pollet, R. M., D'Agostino, E. H., Walton, W. G., Xu, Y., Little, M. S., Biernat, K. A., Pellock, S. J., Patterson, L. M., Creekmore, B. C., Isenberg, H. N., Bahethi, R. R., Bhatt, A. P., Liu, J., Gharaibeh, R. Z., & Redinbo, M. R. (2017). An Atlas of β-Glucuronidases in the Human Intestinal Microbiome. *Structure (London, England : 1993), 25*(7), 967-977.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2017.05.003

Roager, H. M., Hansen, L. B. S., Bahl, M. I., Frandsen, H. L., Carvalho, V., Gøbel, R. J., Dalgaard, M. D., Plichta, D. R., Sparholt, M. H., Vestergaard, H., Hansen, T., Sicheritz-Pontén, T., Nielsen, H. B., Pedersen, O., Lauritzen, L., Kristensen, M., Gupta, R., & Licht, T. R. (2016). Colonic transit time is related to bacterial metabolism and mucosal turnover in the gut. *Nature Microbiology*, 1(9), 16093. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nmicrobiol.2016.93

Roediger, W. E. (1980). Role of anaerobic bacteria in the metabolic welfare of the colonic mucosa in man. *Gut, 21*(9), 793–798. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.21.9.793

Rokkas, T., Portincasa, P., & Koutroubakis, I. E. (2018). Fecal calprotectin in assessing inflammatory bowel disease endoscopic activity: A diagnostic accuracy meta-analysis. *Journal of Gastrointestinal and Liver Diseases : JGLD, 27*(3), 299–306. https://doi.org/10.15403/jgld.2014.1121.273.pti

Rosser, E. C., Piper, C. J. M., Matei, D. E., Blair, P. A., Rendeiro, A. F., Orford, M., Alber, D. G., Krausgruber, T., Catalan, D., Klein, N., Manson, J. J., Drozdov, I., Bock, C., Wedderburn, L. R., Eaton, S., & Mauri, C. (2020). Microbiota-Derived Metabolites Suppress Arthritis by Amplifying Aryl-Hydrocarbon Receptor Activation in Regulatory B Cells. *Cell Metabolism*, *31*(4), 837-851.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cmet.2020.03.003

Schink, M., Konturek, P. C., Tietz, E., Dieterich, W., Pinzer, T. C., Wirtz, S., Neurath, M. F., & Zopf, Y. (2018). Microbial patterns in patients with histamine intolerance. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology : An Official Journal of the Polish Physiological Society, 69*(4). https://doi.org/10.26402/jpp.2018.4.09

Schromm, A. B., Brandenburg, K., Loppnow, H., Moran, A. P., Koch, M. H., Rietschel, E. T., & Seydel, U. (2000). Biological activities of lipopolysaccharides are determined by the shape of their lipid A portion. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, *267*(7), 2008–2013. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01204.x

Sears, C. L. (2009). Enterotoxigenic Bacteroides fragilis: A rogue among symbiotes. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, *22*(2), 349–369, Table of Contents. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00053-08

Senthong, V., Wang, Z., Li, X. S., Fan, Y., Wu, Y., Tang, W. H. W., & Hazen, S. L. (2016). Intestinal Microbiota-Generated Metabolite Trimethylamine-N-Oxide and 5-Year Mortality Risk in Stable Coronary Artery Disease: The Contributory Role of Intestinal Microbiota in a COURAGE-Like Patient Cohort. *Journal of the American Heart Association, 5*(6). https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.115.002816

Shastri, Y. M., Bergis, D., Povse, N., Schäfer, V., Shastri, S., Weindel, M., Ackermann, H., & Stein, J. (2008). Prospective multicenter study evaluating fecal calprotectin in adult acute bacterial diarrhea. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *121*(12), 1099–1106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2008.06.034

Siener, R., Bangen, U., Sidhu, H., Hönow, R., von Unruh, G., & Hesse, A. (2013). The role of Oxalobacter formigenes colonization in calcium oxalate stone disease. *Kidney International, 83*(6), 1144–1149. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2013.104

Singh, N., Gurav, A., Sivaprakasam, S., Brady, E., Padia, R., Shi, H., Thangaraju, M., Prasad, P. D., Manicassamy, S., Munn, D. H., Lee, J. R., Offermanns, S., & Ganapathy, V. (2014). Activation of Gpr109a, receptor for niacin and the commensal metabolite butyrate, suppresses colonic inflammation and carcinogenesis. *Immunity*, 40(1), 128–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.12.007

Smith, P. M., Howitt, M. R., Panikov, N., Michaud, M., Gallini, C. A., Bohlooly-Y, M., Glickman, J. N., & Garrett, W. S. (2013). The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 341*(6145), 569–573. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1241165

State, M., Negreanu, L., Voiosu, T., Voiosu, A., Balanescu, P., & Mateescu, R. B. (2021). Surrogate markers of mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease: A systematic review. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, *27*(16), 1828–1840. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v27.i16.1828

Stephen, A. M., Wiggins, H. S., Englyst, H. N., Cole, T. J., Wayman, B. J., & Cummings, J. H. (1986). The effect of age, sex and level of intake of dietary fibre from wheat on large-bowel function in thirty healthy subjects. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, *56*(2), 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn19860116

Ticinesi, A., Milani, C., Guerra, A., Allegri, F., Lauretani, F., Nouvenne, A., Mancabelli, L., Lugli, G. A., Turroni, F., Duranti, S., Mangifesta, M., Viappiani, A., Ferrario, C., Dodi, R., Dall'Asta, M., Del Rio, D., Ventura, M., & Meschi, T. (2018). Understanding the gut-kidney axis in nephrolithiasis: An analysis of the gut microbiota composition and functionality of stone formers. *Gut, 67*(12), 2097–2106. https://doi. org/10.1136/gutjnl-2017-315734

Tripathi, A., Lammers, K. M., Goldblum, S., Shea-Donohue, T., Netzel-Arnett, S., Buzza, M. S., Antalis, T. M., Vogel, S. N., Zhao, A., Yang, S., Arrietta, M.-C., Meddings, J. B., & Fasano, A. (2009). Identification of human zonulin, a physiological modulator of tight junctions, as prehaptoglobin-2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *106*(39), 16799–16804. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0906773106

Tuomainen, M., Lindström, J., Lehtonen, M., Auriola, S., Pihlajamäki, J., Peltonen, M., Tuomilehto, J., Uusitupa, M., de Mello, V. D., & Hanhineva, K. (2018). Associations of serum indolepropionic acid, a gut microbiota metabolite, with type 2 diabetes and low-grade inflammation in high-risk individuals. *Nutrition & Diabetes, 8*(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41387-018-0046-9

Vanga, R. R., Tansel, A., Sidiq, S., El-Serag, H. B., & Othman, M. O. (2018). Diagnostic Performance of Measurement of Fecal Elastase-1 in Detection of Exocrine Pancreatic Insufficiency: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology : The Official Clinical Practice Journal of the American Gastroenterological Association, 16*(8), 1220-1228.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cgh.2018.01.027

Vanuytsel, T., van Wanrooy, S., Vanheel, H., Vanormelingen, C., Verschueren, S., Houben, E., Salim Rasoel, S., Tóth, J., Holvoet, L., Farré, R., Van Oudenhove, L., Boeckxstaens, G., Verbeke, K., & Tack, J. (2014). Psychological stress and corticotropin-releasing hormone increase intestinal permeability in humans by a mast cell-dependent mechanism. *Gut*, *63*(8), 1293–1299. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305690

Venkatesh, M., Mukherjee, S., Wang, H., Li, H., Sun, K., Benechet, A. P., Qiu, Z., Maher, L., Redinbo, M. R., Phillips, R. S., Fleet, J. C., Kortagere, S., Mukherjee, P., Fasano, A., Le Ven, J., Nicholson, J. K., Dumas, M. E., Khanna, K. M., & Mani, S. (2014). Symbiotic bacterial metabolites regulate gastrointestinal barrier function via the xenobiotic sensor PXR and Toll-like receptor 4. *Immunity*, *41*(2), 296–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.014

Vernia, F., Viscido, A., Di Ruscio, M., Stefanelli, G., Valvano, M., & Latella, G. (2021). Fecal Lactoferrin and Other Putative Fecal Biomarkers in Crohn's Disease: Do They Still Have a Potential Clinical Role? *Digestion, 102*(6), 833–844. https://doi.org/10.1159/000518419

Wang, R. X., Lee, J. S., Campbell, E. L., & Colgan, S. P. (2020). Microbiota-derived butyrate dynamically regulates intestinal homeostasis through regulation of actin-associated protein synaptopodin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *117*(21), 11648–11657. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1917597117

Weh, J., Antoni, C., Weiß, C., Findeisen, P., Ebert, M., & Böcker, U. (2013a). Discriminatory potential of C-reactive protein, cytokines, and fecal markers in infectious gastroenteritis in adults. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, *77*(1), 79–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2013.05.005

Weikel, C. S., Grieco, F. D., Reuben, J., Myers, L. L., & Sack, R. B. (1992). Human colonic epithelial cells, HT29/C1, treated with crude Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin dramatically alter their morphology. *Infection and Immunity*, *60*(2), 321–327. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.60.2.321-327.1992

Wirbel, J., Pyl, P. T., Kartal, E., Zych, K., Kashani, A., Milanese, A., Fleck, J. S., Voigt, A. Y., Palleja, A., Ponnudurai, R., Sunagawa, S., Coelho, L. P., Schrotz-King, P., Vogtmann, E., Habermann, N., Niméus, E., Thomas, A. M., Manghi, P., Gandini, S., ... Zeller, G. (2019). Meta-analysis of fecal metagenomes reveals global microbial signatures that are specific for colorectal cancer. *Nature Medicine*, *25*(4), 679–689. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0406-6

Wu, S., Lim, K. C., Huang, J., Saidi, R. F., & Sears, C. L. (1998). Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin cleaves the zonula adherens protein, E-cadherin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *95*(25), 14979–14984. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.25.14979

Wu, S., Rhee, K.-J., Zhang, M., Franco, A., & Sears, C. L. (2007). Bacteroides fragilis toxin stimulates intestinal epithelial cell shedding and gamma-secretase-dependent E-cadherin cleavage. *Journal of Cell Science*, *120*(Pt 11), 1944–1952. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.03455

Xu, M., Jiang, Z., Wang, C., Li, N., Bo, L., Zha, Y., Bian, J., Zhang, Y., & Deng, X. (2019). Acetate attenuates inflammasome activation through GPR43-mediated Ca(2+)-dependent NLRP3 ubiquitination. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, *51*(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-019-0276-5

Yisireyili, M., Takeshita, K., Saito, S., Murohara, T., & Niwa, T. (2017). Indole-3-propionic acid suppresses indoxyl sulfate-induced expression of fibrotic and inflammatory genes in proximal tubular cells. *Nagoya Journal of Medical Science*, *79*(4), 477–486. https://doi.org/10.18999/nagjms.79.4.477

Zamyatina, A., & Heine, H. (2020). Lipopolysaccharide Recognition in the Crossroads of TLR4 and Caspase-4/11 Mediated Inflammatory Pathways. *Frontiers in Immunology, 11*, 585146. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.585146

Zhao, Z.-H., Xin, F.-Z., Xue, Y., Hu, Z., Han, Y., Ma, F., Zhou, D., Liu, X.-L., Cui, A., Liu, Z., Liu, Y., Gao, J., Pan, Q., Li, Y., & Fan, J.-G. (2019). Indole-3-propionic acid inhibits gut dysbiosis and endotoxin leakage to attenuate steatohepatitis in rats. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, *51*(9), 1–14. https://doi. org/10.1038/s12276-019-0304-5

Zhernakova, A., Kurilshikov, A., Bonder, M. J., Tigchelaar, E. F., Schirmer, M., Vatanen, T., Mujagic, Z., Vila, A. V., Falony, G., Vieira-Silva, S., Wang, J., Imhann, F., Brandsma, E., Jankipersadsing, S. A., Joossens, M., Cenit, M. C., Deelen, P., Swertz, M. A., Weersma, R. K., ... Fu, J. (2016a). Population-based metagenomics analysis reveals markers for gut microbiome composition and diversity. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 352*(6285), 565–569. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad3369

Zhong, G.-C., Sun, W.-P., Wan, L., Hu, J.-J., & Hao, F.-B. (2020). Efficacy and cost-effectiveness of fecal immunochemical test versus colonoscopy in colorectal cancer screening: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*, *91*(3), 684-697.e15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2019.11.035



The future of good health lies within us. By accurately unlocking the complexity of the whole gut microbiome, together we can better understand and manage patient health

Co-Biome[™] by Microba

Unlocking health from within

324 Queen St Brisbane, QLD, Australia 4000 1300 974 621 info@co-biome.com Mailing Address GPO Box 469 Brisbane QLD 4001